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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
MIAMI DIVISION

MICHAEL FOX,
on behalf of himself and all others

similarly situated, 1:17-cv-24284

Plaintiff,
V.

THE RITZ-CARLTON HOTEL
COMPANY, L.L.C.,

Nt N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Preliminary Statement

Plaintiff Michael Fox, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, brings this
complaint against The Ritz-Carlton Hotel Company, L.L.C. (“Ritz-Carlton”), and complains and
alleges upon personal knowledge as to himself and his own acts and experiences, and, as to all
other matters, upon information and belief, including investigation conducted by his attorneys,
and says:

l. NATURE OF THE CASE

1. This is a consumer class action brought on behalf of people who, from four years
prior to filing of this Complaint through and including the date of judgment (the “Class Period”),
purchased food and/or drinks at a restaurant, bar, mini-bar, lounge and/or other public food
service establishment owned, operated and/or controlled by Defendant in the State of Florida and
were charged a gratuity or service charge in violation of Florida Statute 509.214, and the Florida
Unfair Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Fla. Stat. Ann. 501.201 et seq. (“FDUTPA”). Defendant

violated these Florida statutes in a number of ways, including but not limited to: unlawfully
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including an automatic gratuity or service charge of an amount equal to or approximately 18-
20% of the charges for food and beverages without providing the statutorily required notice;
presenting the notice of an automatic gratuity or service charge in small, hard to read type;
hiding the notice on the last page of the menu; and, claiming the automatic charges were
suggested gratuities for the customer’s convenience that could be adjusted higher, lower, or
removed entirely from the bill when, in reality, they were mandatory charges. Defendant also
improperly charged taxes on the gratuity amounts in violation of Rule 12A-1.0115 of the Florida
Administrative Code.

1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE.

2. The Court has original jurisdiction of this action pursuant to the Class Action
Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. 8 1332(d), because a member of the plaintiff Class is a citizen of a state
different from the Defendant’s home state, and the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds five
million dollars ($5,000,000.00), exclusive of interest and costs.

3. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Florida pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8
1391(a), (b), and (c) because the events giving rise to these claims occurred in the Southern
District of Florida; Defendant and/or its agent were doing business in Florida; and/or Defendant
is otherwise subject to personal jurisdiction in this judicial district.

4, The Court has personal jurisdiction over Ritz-Carlton because the conduct giving
rise to Plantiff's claims occurred in Florida and Ritz-Carlton conducts business transactions in
Florida.

II. PARTIES
5. Plaintiff Michael Fox is a citizen and resident of New York.

6. Defendant Ritz-Carlton is a Maryland corporation with its principal place of
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business in Maryland.  Ritz-Carlton owns, operates, manages and/or controls ten hotel properties
in the State of Florida.

IV.  EACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

7. Throughout the Class Period, Defendant owned, operated, managed and/or
controlled ten hotel properties in the State of Florida including The Ritz-Carlton, Amelia Island;
The Ritz-Carlton Bal Harbour, Miami; The Ritz-Carlton Coconut Grove, Miami; The Ritz-
Carlton, Fort Lauderdale; The Ritz-Carlton, Key Biscayne, Miami; The Ritz-Carlton, Naples;
The Ritz-Carlton Golf Resort, Naples; The Ritz-Carlton Orlando, Grande Lakes; The Ritz-
Carlton, Sarasota; The Ritz-Carlton, South Beach.

8. Each of the Ritz-Carlton hotels in the State of Florida includes one or more public
food service establishments, including restaurants, lounges, bars, grills, etc. Hereinafter, such
public food service establishments will be referred to as “restaurants.”

9. Ritz-Carlton also provides food, drinks, and other snacks available for purchase in
a customer’s hotel room through the use of room service and mini-bars.

10. Fla. Stat. 509.214 concerns “notification of automatic gratuity charge” and

provides: “Every public food service establishment which includes an automatic gratuity or

service charge in the price of the meal shall include on the food menu and on the face of the bill

provided to the customer notice that an automatic gratuity is included.”

11. FDUTPA, Fla. Stat. 501.204(1), declares “[unfair methods of competition,
unconscionable acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any
trade or commerce” to be unlawful.

12. Rule 12A-1.0115(7) of the Florida Administrative Code (F.A.C.) states:

(7) GRATUITIES.
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@ Any charge made by a dealer to a customer for gratuities, tips, or similar
charges is a part of the taxable sales price of the food or drinks except when:

1. The charge is separately stated as a gratuity, tip, or other charge on the
customer’s receipt or other tangible evidence of sale; and,

2. The dealer receives no monetary benefit from the gratuity. Money
withheld by the dealer for purposes of payment of the employee’s
share of social security or federal income tax or any fee imposed by a
credit card company on the amount of the gratuity, or money withheld
pursuant to judicial or administrative orders, is not a monetary benefit
for purposes of this rule.

(b) The charge for room service made by hotels for serving meals in guests’
rooms is included in the total price of the meal and is subject to tax.

(©) Service charges, minimum charges, corkage fees, setup fees, or similar
charges imposed by a restaurant, tavern, nightclub, or other like place of business
as part of the charge for furnishing, serving, or preparing food products are
subject to tax.

A. Factual Allegations Regarding Ritz-Carlton’s Deceptive Practices

13. Ritz-Carlton violates Florida law at the public food service establishments in its
hotels in the State of Florida by failing to provide adequate notice on the restaurant’s menu that
an automatic gratuity or service charge of any amount would be added to a customer’s check.

14, Ritz-Carlton violates Florida law at these restaurants through a variety of
deceptive practices, including but not limited to:

a. Failing to provide any notice or otherwise disclose on the restaurant’s
menu that an automatic gratuity or service charge of any amount would be added to a customer’s
check;

b. Failing to provide adequate notice on the restaurant’s menu that an
automatic gratuity or service charge of any amount would be added to a customer’s check
because the notice provided is written in small type, often in a difficult to read italicized font;

C. Failing to provide adequate notice on the restaurant’s menu that an
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automatic gratuity or service charge of any amount would be added to a customer’s check
because the notice provided is only found on the last page of a multi-page menu;

d. Providing notice on the restaurant menu stating that a suggested gratuity
would be added to the customer’s check and that the customer should feel free to raise, lower or
remove the gratuity at the customer’s discretion, however, when the check arrives, there is a
mandatory gratuity or service charge added,;

e. Providing notice on the restaurant menu stating that an automatic gratuity
would be added to the customer’s check, however, when the check arrives the gratuity is referred
to as a service charge, with a lne below the total allowing a customer to add an ‘“Additional
Gratuity”;

f. Providing notice in the customer’s hotel room that drinks and snacks taken
from the mini-bar would include an automatic gratuity or service charge, however, no bill or
check for these charges is ever provided to the customer; and

g. Improperly charging tax on gratuities that are automatically added to the
customer’s check or bill.

B. Factual Allegations Regarding Plaintiff®s Experiences at Ritz-Carlton

15. In April 2017, Michael Fox (‘“Plamtiff” or ‘Representative Plaintiff”) went to a
restaurant located in a Ritz-Carlton hotel in Florida.

16. Plaintiff ordered and was served food and/or beverages from the menu.

17.  When he was done eating, Plaintiff was presented with a restaurant bill (the
“check”).

18.  An automatic gratuity of 18% was included with the charges for food and

beverages on the check.
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19.  There was no mention on the restaurant’s menu, neither on the hard copy
provided to Plaintiff in the restaurant nor on the menu posted online on the hotel’s website, that
an automatic gratuity or service charge of any amount would be added to Plaintiff's check.

20. Plaintiff paid the check in full.

21. On another occasion in April 2017, Plaintiff went to a different restaurant located
at a Ritz-Carlton hotel in Florida and ordered and was served food and/or beverages from the
menu.

22. The menu stated in small, italicized type, “A suggested 18% gratuity will be
added to your check. Please feel free to raise, lower, or remove this gratuity at your discretion.”

23.  When he was done eating, Plaintiff was presented with the check.

24. Rather than a suggested gratuity that could be raised, lowered or removed from
the check, there was a mandatory 18% service charge included.

25.  The 18% service charge amount was included in the calculation of the charged
taxes, despite the menu indicating that any automatic fee would be a non-taxable gratuity.

26. Below the check total, there was an extra line for Plantiff to add an “Additional
Gratuity.”

217. Plaintiff paid the check in full.

28.  The acts alleged against Ritz-Carlton that are the subject of the class action were
authorized, ordered, or done by their officers, directors, agents, employees, and/or
representatives, including but not limited to persons involved in the operation, management,
control and/or licensing of restaurants and bars inside the hotel while actively engaged in the

operation of Ritz-Carlton’s business.
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V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

29.  The Representative Plaintiff brings this action individually and as a class action,
pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of the following Class:

All persons who were customers of a public food service establishment at a Ritz-

Carlton hotel in Florida during the Class Period and were billed and paid for food

and/or beverages and the bill included an automatic gratuity or service charge.

30. Excluded from the Class are Ritz-Carlton and its officers, directors, agents,
employees, counsel and its subsidiaries and affiliates; Class Counsel, employees of Class
Counsel's firm and associated law firm, and Class Counsel's immediate family members; the
presiding Judge and Magistrate Judge and their immediate family members; and all persons who
make a timely election to be excluded from the Class.

31.  The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable.  Although the precise number of Class members is known only to Defendant,
Plaintiff avers, upon information and belief, that Defendant served and charged hundreds of
thousands of customers during the class period.

32.  There are questions of law and fact common to the Class that predominate over
any questions affecting only individual Class members. The common questions include whether:

a. Ritz-Carlton engaged in the conduct alleged herein;

b. Ritz-Carlton decided to or agreed to add a hidden automatic gratuity or
service charge to restaurant and bar bills;

C. Ritz-Carlton violated Florida statutory law by adding hidden automatic
gratuity or service charges to restaurant and bar bills;

d. Ritz-Carlton used unfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts or

practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of its hotel business;
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e. Ritz-Carlton made a material representation, omission, and/or engaged in
practices likely to mislead people acting reasonably in the circumstances, to their detriment;
f. Ritz-Carlton’s conduct violates consumer protection statutes, trade
practices statutes as asserted herein;
g Ritz-Carlton’s conduct was part of a pattern or practice;
h. Plaintiff and Class Members overpaid for their food and beverages at Ritz-
Carlton’s hotels and, if so, by how much;
I Plaintiff and Class Members could reasonably have avoided the injury and
harm;
J- Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to equitable relief, including, but
not limited to, declarative and injunctive relief and restitution; and
k. Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to actual damages and other
monetary relief.
33. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class, which all arise from the
same operative facts and are based on the same legal theories.
34.  The Representative Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
Class. Representative Plaintiff is committed to vigorously litigating this matter and has retained
counsel who have litigated numerous class action lawsuits including cases involving unlawful
business practices claims. Neither Representative Plaintiff nor his counsel have any interests
which might keep them from vigorously pursuing the claims or protecting the interests of all
Class Members.
35. This action should be maintained as a class action because the prosecution of

separate actions by individual members of the Class would create a risk of inconsistent or
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varying adjudications with respect to individual members which would establish incompatible
standards of conduct for the parties opposing the Class, as well as a risk of adjudications with
respect to individual members which would as a practical matter be dispositive of the interests of
other members not parties to the adjudications or substantially impair or impede their ability to
protect their interests.

36.  Certification of Plaintiff’s claims for class-wide treatment is appropriate because
Plaintiff can prove the elements of the claims on a class-wide basis using the same evidence as
would be used to prove those elements in individual actions alleging the same claim.

37. A class action is a superior method for the fair and efficient adjudication of this
controversy.  The interest of Class Members in individually controlling the prosecution of
separate claims against Ritz-Carlton is slight because of the sheer number of claims against the
Defendant and complexity of the matter.

38. Management of the Class’s claims is likely to present significantly fewer
difficulties than those presented by massive numbers of individual claims. The identities of the
Class Members may be obtained from Defendant’s records.

VI.  CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT |
Violations of Florida Statute 509.214
Failure to Provide Notice of Automatic Gratuity Charge

39. Plaintiff incorporates the paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

40. Ritz-Carlton owns, operates, manages and/or controls public food service
establishments located in its hotels under Fla. Stat. 509.214.

41. Ritz-Carlton restaurants include an automatic gratuity or service charge in the

price of all food and beverages served at restaurants, bars, lounges and/or food service
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establishments in the Ritz-Carlton hotels.

42. Ritz-Carlton violated Florida law by failing to include on the restaurant and bar
menus, and on the face of bills provided to the customers, adequate notice that an automatic
gratuity or service charge is also included.

43. As a direct and proximate result of Ritz-Carlton’s unfair and deceptive trade
practices, Plaintiff and Class members suffered actual damages and are entitled to obtain the
relief described below.

COUNT I
Violations of the Florida Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act

44, Plaintiff incorporates the paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.
45, Ritz-Carlton conducts trade or commerce under Fla. Stat. § 501.202(2).
46. Ritz-Carlton violated Florida law by engaging in the following conduct:

a. unfair, deceptive and/or unconscionable practices in the conduct of trade
or commerce by adding automatic gratuities or service charges without adequate disclosure to
customers including Plaintiff and the Plaintiff class;

b. unfair, deceptive and/or unconscionable practices in the conduct of trade
or commerce by adding automatic gratuities or service charges without adequate disclosure
because the notice is written in small, difficult to read type;

C. unfair, deceptive and/or unconscionable practices in the conduct of trade
or commerce by adding automatic gratuities or service charges without adequate disclosure
because the notice provided is only found on the last page of a multi-page menu;

d. unfair, deceptive and/or unconscionable practices in the conduct of trade
or commerce by providing notice on the restaurant menu stating that a suggested gratuity would

be added to the customer’s check that the customer could raise, lower or remove at their

10
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discretion, however, when the check arrives, the added gratuity or service charge is mandatory;

e. unfair, deceptive and/or unconscionable practices in the conduct of trade
or commerce by providing notice on the restaurant menu stating that an automatic gratuity would
be added to the customer’s check, however, when the check arrives the gratuity is referred to as a
service charge, with a line below the total allowing a customer to add an “Additional Gratuity”
causing confusion about the nature of the charge;

f. falsely representing that higher charges for food and beverages were part
of the cost of the food and/or beverages ordered by Plaintiff and the Plaintiff class;

g failing to disclose the automatic gratuities or service charges;

h. failing to disclose the nature of the automatic charges added to a
customer’s check, whether a service charge paid to the restaurant or a gratuity paid to the
restaurant server;

! injury, loss and damages were likely as a result of the failure to disclose
the information concerning automatic gratuity or service charges;

J- otherwise using false, deceptive, misleading and unfair or unconscionable
means to overcharge for food and beverages.

47. Ritz-Carlton’s acts and practices described above were done with intentional
and/or negligent disregard for Plantiffs’ rights under the law and with the purpose of taking
more money from Plaintiff and Class Members than the fair market value reflected in the menu
price for food and beverages.

48. Ritz-Carlton was engaged in the unconscionable, unfair, and deceptive acts set
forth in this Complaint in the conduct of trade or commerce.

49.  The information related to automatic gratuities or service charges Ritz-Carlton

11
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withheld and failed to disclose on its menus was material.

50. Ritz-Carlton’s acts and practices described are objectively likely to mislead
customers like Plaintiff and Class Members acting reasonably in the same circumstances.

51. Ritz-Carlton’s conduct and practices described above offend established public
policy and are immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous and substantially injurious to
consumers.

52.  As a direct and proximate result of Ritz-Carlton’s unfair and deceptive trade
practices, Plaintiff and Class Members suffered actual damages and are entitld to obtain the
relief requested as set forth below.

COUNT 111
Per Se Violations of the Florida Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act

53. Plaintiff incorporates the paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

54. Ritz-Carlton’s acts and omissions constitute violations of Fla. Stat. § 509.214,
found under Title XXXIII which sets forth the Regulation of Trade, Commerce, Investments, and
Solicitations.

55. Fla. Stat. 8 509.214 is a rule or regulation related to trade or commerce that
requires the disclosure of certain automatic charges that a customer must pay.

56. FDUTPA provides in § 501.203(3)(c) that a violation may be based upon “any
law, statute, rule, regulation, or ordinance” which proscribes such conduct in trade or commerce.

57.  As a result, Ritz-Carlton’s failure to provide the statutorily required notice of an
automatic gratuity or service charge constitutes per se violations of FDUTPA.

58.  As a direct and proximate result of Ritz-Carlton’s per se violations of FDUTPA,
Plaintiff and Class Members suffered actual damages and are entitled to obtain the relief

requested as set forth below.

12
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COUNT IV
Violations of Rule 12A-1.0115 of the Florida Administrative Code

59. Plaintiff incorporates the paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

60. During the Class Period, Ritz-Carlton improperly charged Plaintiff and Class
Members sales tax on the automatic gratuity or service charge amounts added to their checks.

61. Rule 12A-1.0115(7) of the F.A.C. describes when a gratuity, tip or similar charge
is part of the taxable sale price of food or drinks that restaurants, hotels, or other like places of
business must collect.

62. Rule 12A-1.0115(7)(a) states that gratuities, tips or similar charges are not part of
the taxable sale price when:

I. the charge is separately stated as a gratuity, tip, or other charge on
the customer’s receipt or other tangble evidence of sale; and,

il. the dealer receives no monetary benefit from the gratuity.

63. Rule 12A-1.0115(7)(a)(2) states that money withheld by the dealer for purposes
of payment of the employee’s share of social security or federal income tax or any fee mmposed
by a credit card company on the amount of the gratuity, or money withheld pursuant to judicial
or administrative orders, is not a monetary benefit for purposes of this rule.

64. Upon information and belief, Ritz-Carlton receives no monetary benefit from the
gratuities, tips, or other charges collected from its customers.

65. Ritz-Carlton leads customers to believe that the automatic charges applied to
customers’ checks are gratuities being paid directly to the servers, as opposed to service charges
imposed by the restaurant as part of the charge for furnishing, serving, or preparing the food.

66.  On certain menus, Ritz-Carlton states automatic charges will be applied to the
customer’s check, referring to the charges as gratuities; however, when the check arrives, the
automatic charge is referred to as a service charge and the amount of the automatic charge is

13
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included in the calculated tax charged to the customer.

67.  As a direct and proximate result of Ritz-Carlton’s violations of Rule 12A-1.0115
of the F.A.C., Plaintiff and Class Members suffered actual damages and are entitled to obtain the
relief requested as set forth below.

COUNT V
Declaratory Judgment

68. Plaintiff incorporates the paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

69. FDUTPA provides in § 501.211 that “anyone aggrieved by a violation of this part
may bring an action to obtain declaratory judgment that an act or practice violates this part.”

70. Ritz-Carlton’s acts and omissions as described above constitute violations of
FDUTPA, entitling Plaintiff and Class Members to a judgment declaring Ritz-Carlton’s conduct
to be in violation of Florida law as alleged.

COUNT VI
Injunctive Relief

71. Plaintiff incorporates the paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

72. FDUTPA provides in § 501.211 that “anyone aggrieved by a violation of this part
may bring an action . . . to enjoin a person who has violated, is violating, or is otherwise likely to
violate this part.”

73. Ritz-Carlton’s acts and omissions as described above constitute violations of
FDUTPA, entiting Plaintiff and Class Members to injunctive relief directing Defendant to
discontinue the unlawful acts and practices alleged by conspicuously placing notice on the
menus and the face of bills provided to customers that automatic gratuities or service charges
will be included, or alternatively, to no longer add automatic gratuities or service charges to

customers’ bills.

14
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VIl. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

74. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all claims and issues so triable.

VIIl. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that relief be granted against Defendant Ritz-
Carlton with the entry of an order:

A certifying the proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and appointing Plaintiff and his counsel to represent the Class;

B. a judgment declaring that Defendant’s acts and omissions as described above are
in violation of Florida law as alleged;

C. an injunction directing Defendant to discontinue the unlawful acts and practices
by conspicuously placing notice on menus and the face of bills provided to customers that
automatic gratuities or service charges will be included, or, alternatively, to no longer add
automatic gratuities or service charges to customers’ bills;

D. awarding actual damages;

E. awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and prejudgment and post-judgment
interest pursuant to law; and

F. granting such other and further relief as may be just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,
BRANDON THOMPSON

By: s/ David M. Marco
Attorney for Plaintiff

Dated: November 28, 2017

15
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David M. Marco

IL Bar No. 6273315/FL Bar No. 125266
SMITHMARCO, P.C.

55 W. Monroe Street, Suite 1200
Chicago, IL 60603

Telephone: (312) 546-6539
Facsimile: (888) 418-1277

E-Mail: dmarco@smithmarco.com

FRANCIS & MAILMAN, P.C.

James A. Francis (pro hac vice forthcoming)
John Soumilas (pro hac vice forthcoming)
David A. Searles (pro hac vice forthcoming)
Trial Counsel

Land Title Building, Suite 1902

100 South Broad Street

Philadelphia, PA 19110

T: (215) 735-8600

F: (215) 940-8000
jfrancis@consumerlawfirm.com
jsoumilas@consumerlawfirm.com
dsearles@consumerlawfirm.com

LEWIS SAUL & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

Lewis J. Saul (pro hac vice forthcoming)
Edward A. Coleman (pro hac vice forthcoming)
29 Howard Street, 3rd Floor

New York, NY 10013

T: (212) 376-8450

F: (212) 376-8447

Isaul@lewissaul.com

jhinck@lewissaul.com

ecoleman@ lewissaul.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Class

16



1544 (Rev. 0B OIRLLe31241284-JLK  Documer@ /1L Eateied SMEESID Docket 11/28/2017 Page 1 of 1

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadmgs or other pa?ers as required by law, except as
provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the
of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.) NOTICE: Attorneys MUST Indicate All Re-filed Cases Below.

l. (a) PLAINTIFFS MICHAEL FOX

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff \VWestchester
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)

SMITHMARCO, P.C., 312-546-6539
55 W. Monroe Street, Suite 1200, Chicago, IL 60603

(d) Check County Where Action Arose:

U MiAMI- DADE

O MONROE

nited States in September 1974, is require

for the use o

the Clerk of Court for the purpose

DEFENDANTS THE RITZ-CARLTON HOTEL COMPANY,

L.L.C.

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant
(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

NOTE:

Attorneys (If Known)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

O BROWARD [ PALMBEACH O MARTIN O ST.LUCIE [ INDIANRIVER [ OKEECHOBEE [J HIGHLANDS

Il. BASIS OF JURISDICTION

(Place an “X” in One Box Only)

(For Diversity Cases Only)

I1l. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X”” in One Box for Plaintiff)

and One Box for Defendant)

[J 1 U.S. Government vf13 Federal Question PTF DEF PTF DEF
Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State a1 [ 1 Incorporated or Principal Place 04 [O4
of Business In This State
O 2 U.S. Government 04 Diversity Citizen of Another State a2 [ 2 Incorporated and Principal Place o5 OdO5
Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item I11) of Business In Another State
Citizen or Subject of a s [0 3 Foreign Nation o6 [d6
Foreign Country
IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X”” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions
CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES
[ 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY [ 625 Drug Related Seizure [ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 [ 375 False Claims Act
[ 120 Marine [ 310 Airplane [J 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881  [] 423 Withdrawal [J 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
[ 130 Miller Act [ 315 Airplane Product Product Liability [ 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729 (a))
[ 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability [J 367 Health Care/ [0 400 State Reapportionment
[ 150 Recovery of Overpayment [ 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS [0 410 Antitrust
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury [1820 Copyrights [0 430 Banks and Banking
[ 151 Medicare Act [ 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability [ 830 Patent ) [0 450 Commerce
[ 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability [ 368 Asbestos Personal O ﬁlse?/vplgtreurg ;S)t?ﬁ:r:t\i/éanted [ 460 Deportation
Student Loans [1 340 Marine Injury Product [1840 Trademark [0 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excl. Veterans) [ 345 Marine Product Liability LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY Corrupt Organizations
[ 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY [ 710 Fair Labor Standards [1861 HIA (1395ff) [ 480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran’s Benefits [1350 Motor Vehicle [ 370 Other Fraud Act [1862 Black Lung (923) [ 490 Cable/Sat TV
[1 160 Stockholders’ Suits [1 355 Motor Vehicle [ 371 Truth in Lending [ 720 Labor/Mgmt. Relations ~ []863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) [ 850 Securities/fCommodities/
[ 190 Other Contract Product Liability [ 380 Other Personal [ 740 Railway Labor Act [1864 SSID Title XVI Exchange
[1195 Contract Product Liability [ 360 Other Personal Property Damage [ 751 Family and Medical [1865 RSI (405(g)) 890 Other Statutory Actions
[ 196 Franchise Injury [J 385 Property Damage Leave Act [0 891 Agricultural Acts
[1 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability [ 790 Other Labor Litigation [ 893 Environmental Matters
Med. Malpractice [ 791 Empl. Ret. Inc. [ 895 Freedom of Information
REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS Security Act FEDERAL TAX SUITS Act
[J 210 Land Condemnation [] 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: [1870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff [ 896 Arbitration
[ 220 Foreclosure [ 441 Voting O 463 Alien Detainee or Defendant) [ 899 Administrative Procedure
[1 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment [ 442 Employr/nent O gégtenMcgt'ons to Vacate O %7810 7|R39_Th"d Party 26 AcyReview or Appeal of
[0 240 Torts to Land O it%yn?%s;ggn ons Other: Agency De_cisi_on _
[0 245 Tort Product Liability [1 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - [ 530 General IMMIGRATION O gtse?tuggnstltutlonahty of State
[J 290 All Other Real Property Employment [ 535 Death Penalty [] 462 Naturalization Application
[1 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - [ 540 Mandamus & Other  [] 465 Other Immigration
Other [ 550 Civil Rights Actions
[ 448 Education [ 555 Prison Condition
560 Civil Detainee —
[ Conditions of
Confinement
V. ORIGIN (Place an “X’” in One Box Only) O
) igi i Transferred from 6 Multidistrict
1 grr(;gler;adlmg O 2 le’gnn?]oélteact'e O 3 (Rseeeﬁ{%j O 4 sremStated O 5 anoth_er district |_|t|gat|0n D 7 Appeal to D 8 Multidistrict Dg Remanded from
Court below) Reopened (specify) Transfer District Judge Litigation Appellate Court
from Magistrate —_Direct
Judgment File
VI. RELATED/ (See instructions): a) Re-filed Case OYES ¥ANO b) Related Cases OYES i NO
RE-FILED CASE(S) JUDGE: DOCKET NUMBER:

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and Write a Brief Statement of Cause (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

VIl. CAUSE OF ACTION Fla. Stat. Ann. 501.201 et seq, Florida Unfair Deceptive Trade Practices Act,

LENGTH OF TRIAL via days estimated (for both sides to try entire case)

VIIl. REQUESTED IN CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION . . -

COMPLAINT: Nal UNDER ER.C.P. 23 DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:

JURY DEMAND: VYes [ONo
ABOVE INFORMATION IS TRUE & CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
November 28, 2017

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECEIPT # AMOUNT IFP JUDGE MAG JUDGE



Case 1:17-cv-24284-JLK Document 1-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 11/28/2017 Page 1 of 2

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Florida

MICHAEL FOX

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:17-cv-24284

THE RITZ-CARLTON HOTEL COMPANY, L.L.C.

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) The Ritz-Carlton Hotel Company, LLC.
c/o Corporate Creations Network, Inc.
11380 Prosperity Farms Rd. # 221 E
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  SMITHMARCO, P.C.

55 W. Monroe Street, Suite 1200
Chicago, IL 60603

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No. 1:17-cv-24284

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:



ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this
post: Ritz-Carlton Accused of Adding Illegal Automatic Gratuity to Customer Bills



https://www.classaction.org/news/ritz-carlton-accused-of-adding-illegal-automatic-gratuity-to-customer-bills



